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353 Kilgore Avenue, Muncie, Delaware County, Indiana.

UTM: 16.635370.4449680
U.S.G.S. Muncie West Quadrangle

Unknown

Land was first purchased in December of 1841. The original 1.5 acres were
purchased by Samuel W. Harlan, John Jack, and James Hodge, trustees for
the citizens of Munseytown.

City of Muncie, Indiana.
Burial Plots

The Beech Grove Cemetery contains more history of Muncie and Delaware
County than any other area. The grounds are eligible for inclusion on the
National Register of Historic Places. Since its inception in 1841, the
cemetery was the only significant burial ground in Muncie for nearly a
century. The 152-year-old cemetery contains many ornate family
mausoleums and monuments of Muncie's early industrialists. The cemetery
also contains graves of veterans from the Revolutionary War to the Vietnam
War. The cemetery is of local significance.

This documentation was undertaken in accordance with the Memorandum of
Agreement between the Delaware County commissioners, the Indiana
Department of Transportation, the Federal Highway Administration, the
Advisory Council on Historic Preservation and the Indiana State Historic
Preservation Officer as mitigation prior to the replacement of Delaware
County Bridge No. 504 on Nichols Avenue over the White River.

Mr. Brian C. Shaw

Beam, Longest & Neff, Inc.
8126 Castleton Road
Indianapolis, Indiana 46250
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Historical Information:

The beginnings of the Beech Grove Cemetery had ties to local Indian tribes located in the
Muncie area. A portion of the grounds was once used as a sacred burial ground by the
Delaware Indians in the early 1800's.' By 1834, the first graves were established in this area by
local residents. By the early 1840's, the growth of the town of Muncie (known as Munceytown)
threatened the availability of land for future expansion at the existing town cemetery. The
Beech Grove Cemetery was then established with the acquisition of the original 1.5 acres by
trustees for the citizens of Munceytown in 1841." This tract of land was part of the Moses Eby
farm. The cemetery name came from the large clumps of Beech trees located to the northwest
of the grounds along the White River.

Between 1858 and 1864 an additional nine acres of land was acquired and combined with the
original 1.5 acres to make up the area known as the old part of the cemetery. This area was
located at the east end of the cemetery grounds. There are some significant individuals buried
in this portion of the grounds. Mr. Goldsmith C. Gilbert and his wife Mary Bishop Gilbert,
founders of Muncie, are buried here. Mr. Gilbert donated the original town plat of Muncie
from land he purchased in the area. Two Revolutionary War veterans, Sewell Gilbert and John
McConnell, are also buried in this section.'

In 1864 the first of sixteen superintendents, Mr. Henry Gotleib, was appointed at the cemetery.'
By 1895, a local association made up of over 50 of the leading business and professional men
of the city of Muncie, was organized for the purpose of giving attention to the development and
improvement of the cemetery grounds. In 1902 the most significant addition to the Beech
Grove Cemetery was made with the purchase of the John Moore farm of fifty-one acres of
land.! This newly acquired acreage was located west of the old part of the cemetery. In 1905
control of the cemetery transferred from the city council to a five member board of trustees
with the authority to direct the improvements and future planning for the cemetery. Mr. Oscar
W. Crabbs had been cemetery superintendent since 1899 and he was retained by the trustees to
continue the management of the grounds until 1915.! Mr. Crabbs designed many of the
buildings and landscaping at Beech Grove Cemetery as well as McCulloch Park and Muncie
Normal Institute, now known as Ball State University.

Under the direction of Mr. Crabbs the Beech Grove Cemetery experienced some substantial
improvements and acquired the reputation of being one of the most beautiful burial sites in the
state of Indiana. In 1900 the first off ice/administration building was constructed on the
grounds. The structure was a small, one story building located inside the main gate.' By 1904,
a large stone archway was constructed at the main entrance to the cemetery on Kilgore
Avenue.' The stone used to construct the face of the structure was gathered from the grounds
of the cemetery. The limestone used for the actual arch construction and trim is a product of
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southern Indiana from quarries near Bedford.” The three pointed archways represent a prime
example of English-Gothic style architecture.

In 1906 construction began on the cemetery chapel. The chapel was located west of the old
part of the cemetery, back from the main gate. The stone used in this structure was gathered
from areas inside Delaware County. Construction lasted approximately six years and the
chapel was dedicated on Memorial Day in 1912.! The design of the building included a tile
roof, stained glass windows, mission oak trim for the interior and an organ in the tower. The
pointed arched windows and entryway is another example of English Gothic architecture.
Although the chapel was an impressive structure, it was only actually used for a few years. By
this time, funeral directors began building space for services at their establishments and the
chapel fell into disuse and was razed in 1955.'

During his tenure as superintendent, Mr. Crabbs also implemented a number of landscaping
improvements to the grounds of the cemetery. Under his direction, newly acquired ground was
platted and internal access roads were built in the cemetery. These avenues would wind around
from a central area and are shaded on both sides by foliaged trees of various species.
Additional landscaping with shrubs, plants, flowers and two small lagoons, with fountains fed
by city water piped to the grounds, greatly enhanced the appearance of the cemetery.'

The growth of the cemetery in the early 1900's increased the administrative responsibilities of
the superintendent and the board of trustees. By 1920, the cemetery office building was
outdated and in need of repair. In 1921, the cornerstone for a new cemetery office building was
laid.* The building was designed by prominent Muncie architect Cuno Kiebele, who would
later be buried in the cemetery upon his death in 1927. The structure was similar to the
archway at the main gate and the chapel with the English Gothic style of architecture and use of
fieldstone for the face and limestone for the trim. The old office building was moved to the
barn area within the cemetery grounds

The office building is located inside the cemetery, just west of the main gate. The new office
contains a shelter room, garage, meeting room for the board of directors, basement and public
lobby. The lobby contains a mosaic floor and the remainder of the rooms are finished with
hardwood floors. The roof of the structure contains tile, similar to that of the chapel.’ The
cornerstone was engraved with the names of the trustees of the cemetery and the architect. The
cornerstone contained a copy of the Muncie Evening Press and the Muncie Morning Star, a
record of the number of people buried in the grounds, a set of rules for the cemetery and a copy
of the ordinance authorizing the cemetery.' In 1974, the porch on the structure was enclosed to
make room for a 50 seat chapel area. The tile roof and heating systems were repaired in 1991
and the building was redecorated.?
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By 1926, a stone and iron fence was constructed along the outer property from the eastern end
of the grounds west along Kilgore Avenue. The fence is 6’4” in height with an approximate
two foot wide base. The fence comes around the corner of Kilgore Avenue and Nichols
Avenue but stops short of the side entrance on Nichols Avenue. The stone used in the fence is
similar to the fieldstone used in the office building, chapel and archway at the main gate. The
fence contains square posts approximately 100 feet apart with a limestone base and cap
containing a large stone ball topping each post. Iron fencing with ¥/, inch bars and three inch
spacing runs between the posts on top of the base made of fieldstone and coping of limestone.’

As the cemetery expanded to the west away from the old part, land was acquired around the
Nickel Plate Railroad line that ran through the area. The Nickel Plate Railroad, which is
currently owned by Norfolk and Southern, passes through the cemetery grounds on a diagonal,
running northwest to southwest. By the early 1930's, the cemetery had expanded past the
railroad line and railroad cars standing stationary along the tracks frequently prevented
movement from the western end of the grounds to the eastern end by blocking the only crossing
over the tracks. In 1933, a new road was built through the western portion of the cemetery that
would pass under the railroad embankment and allow unobstructed passage through the
cemetery grounds. The new road was constructed by unemployed citizens participating in the
government's civil work administration program.®

Descriptive Information:

The Beech Grove Cemetery is located at the intersection of Nichols Avenue and Kilgore
Avenue along the south bank of the White River, on the near west side of the city of Muncie,
Indiana in central Delaware County. The cemetery is bordered by the White River to the north,
Kilgore Avenue to the south, Meadows Shopping Center to the east, and Nichols Avenue to the
west. The Beech Grove cemetery is located in an urbanized area and land uses in the
surrounding quadrants are basically residential and commercial. Just to the west of the
cemetery, along the north bank of the White River and west of Nichols Avenue, is Westside
Park, which provides recreational and athletic facilities for the area.

Many areas in both the new and old parts of the cemetery have been reserved for fraternal
organizations. The old part of the grounds contains reserved plots for the Munsey Tribe of Red
Men, various Masonic lodges and the Odd Fellows. The new portion of the cemetery contains
a larger number of reserved areas for religious and fraternal organizations. Inside the main gate
on Kilgore Avenue, and just west of the office, is the area reserved for the Williams Post, of the
Grand Army of the Republic. The area was reserved after the end of the Civil War (1865) for
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veterans of the conflict. This area also contains some veterans from the Spanish American War
and World War . A plaque from the battleship U.S.S. Maine that was destroyed in Havana
Harbor in 1889, marks the graves of the Spanish American War veterans.’

Just to the east of the cemetery office is the location of the plots for the Benevolent Protective
Order of the Elks (B.P.0.E.). The plot contains some ornate shrubbery and a monument of a
bronzed elk surmounting a large boulder. Three large areas of land located along the western
edge of the railroad tracks are reserved for the American Legion. On Memorial Day each year,
firing squads and color guards from the local American Legion Post and Veterans of Foreign
Wars remember the war dead with a memorial service.” Another area just west of the old part
was reserved for the Knights of Pythias.

Along the east side of the railroad, along Kilgore Avenue, is located the two sections reserved
for those individuals of Jewish heritage and firemen that have sacrificed their lives for others.
To the west across the railroad is the section set aside for those individuals of the Roman
Catholic faith. In 1951 a statue of "Our Lady of Fatima" was erected in this section by the
board of trustees. The statue was carved from marble at the famous quarries in Carrara, Italy
and is 8 feet tall and stands on a 4-foot pedestal of South Dakota granite.®> Along the White
River levee in the new part of the cemetery is an area set aside for those individuals who are
unable to bear the expense of personal lots. These people are buried here at the expense of the
county and their graves are given the same care as that accorded to the rest in the cemetery.

The portion of the cemetery involved with the replacement of Delaware County Bridge #504
over the White River is the small stone wall and iron gate at the Nichols Avenue entrance. The
proposed project would relocate the side gate on Nichols Avenue slightly east of the present
location and require acquisition of a minor amount of right-of-way from the cemetery property.
The stone wall and chain link fence that runs in front of it starts at the corner of Nichols Avenue
and Kilgore Avenue and moves north along Nichols Avenue. The stone wall stops at the top of
the levee but the fence proceeds on down and along the levee. The stone wall is approximately
1 to 2 feet wide and varies in height from approximately 9 feet at the gate to about 1 foot as it
tapers away from the entrance on both sides along Nichols Avenue. The entrance has a 14°4”
wide opening, a 16°0” depth and contains two 6’10” wide iron gates. The stone used to
construct the wall appears to be very similar to the fieldstone used in the construction of the
archway at the main gate, the office building, and the stone fence running along Kilgore
Avenue. None of the available research material used in the preparation of this HABS report
provided any information or background as to when this entrance gate and wall was
constructed. It is a general estimation that the gate was constructed sometime after 1926.

In 1992, the Friends of Beech Grove Cemetery Society was organized and dedicated to the
beautification and historical preservation of Beech Grove Cemetery.' The organization has
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revived interest in the cemetery and many plans are underway for new landscaping and
renovation in Delaware County's largest historic landmark.

This is all the available information on the history of the Beech Grove Cemetery. A diligent
effort was made to determine the historical significance of the cemetery. A detailed listing of
the references which were researched is provided.
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